
STATEMENT OF FACTS IN SUPPORT OF CRIMINAL COMPLAINT 

I, Special Agent Steven Mason, being first duly sworn, hereby depose and state as follows: 

PRELIMINARY INFORMATION 

I am a Special Agent with the Office of Inspector General for the United States Postal 

Service.  As such, I am a law enforcement officer authorized to investigate violations of the laws of 

the United States, and I am a law enforcement officer with authority to execute arrest and search 

warrants issued under the authority of the United States.  I have eight years of law enforcement 

experience.  During my tenure, I have investigated and assisted investigating offenses including 

mail theft by postal employees and financial fraud.  Prior to my work with the United States Postal 

Service, I served as a police officer for two years at the National Security Agency.   

The information set forth in this Affidavit is based on my personal knowledge, information 

provided to me during the course of this investigation, and my review of records, documents, and 

other evidence obtained during the course of this investigation. 

This Affidavit is being submitted in support of an application for a criminal complaint for 

Ronald C. Pretlow.  The facts set forth in this Affidavit demonstrate that there is probable cause to 

believe that this individual violated Title 18, United States Code, Section 1709 (Theft of Mail by 

Postal Employee). 

SUBJECT INFORMATION 

Ronald C.  Pretlow (“Pretlow”) was born on August 28, 1964.  Pretlow’s Social Security 

Number is 117-54-0885.  Pretlow’s current home address is 3063 Chester Grove Road, Unit D, 

Upper Marlboro, Maryland, 20774. 
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SUMMARY OF PROBABLE CAUSE 
 

The defendant Ronald C. Pretlow has been employed as a letter carrier with the United 

States Postal Service (“USPS” or “Postal Service”) since February 8, 2003.  In 2012, he was 

assigned to the Lammond-Riggs Station, which is a station established by the authority of the 

Postmaster General and the Postal Service and is located at 6200 North Capitol Street, Washington, 

D.C. 

In Spring 2012, the Postal Service received numerous complaints by citizens living in zip 

code 20011 in Washington, D.C. regarding items of mail that they should have received but never 

did.  Specifically, citizens were complaining about missing packages and greeting cards.  Upon 

preliminary review by the Postal Service’s Office of Inspector General (“USPS-OIG”), the 

complaining citizens resided at addresses that were located on the specific mail delivery routes for 

which Pretlow was responsible.  After receiving these allegations, USPS-OIG conducted the 

following investigation:  

(1) June 27, 2012 

On June 27, 2012, a special agent with USPS-OIG provided two “test letters” to the 

postmaster of the Lammond-Riggs Station, which were placed into Pretlow’s mail for delivery.  

The test letters were addressed to locations that did not exist on this route.  United States Postal 

Service rules and regulations require that when a letter carrier is given a piece of mail addressed to 

an invalid address (or “no such number” address), the letter carrier should then endorse the mail by 

writing “no such number” on the mail and return it to the post office from which it was received.   

The Postal Service will then deliver the mail to the return address, which – in the case of a “test 

letter” – is an “undercover  post office box” controlled and used by USPS-OIG.   The two test 

letters were addressed to two different people and locations: “Tristan Ward, 5736 2nd Street NE, 
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Apt. 5, Washington, D.C. 20011” and “Francine Jackson, 604 Kensington Place NE, Washington, 

D.C. 20011.”  These two test letters consisted of two envelopes containing greeting cards and gift 

cards to the retail store “Target, Inc.”  USPS-OIG confirmed that Pretlow picked up these letters 

for delivery.  Thereafter, the letters were never returned to the post office or the return address.  

Further investigation revealed that three days later, on June 30, 2012, the two Target gift cards in 

the test letters were redeemed, as confirmed by the identification codes.  Surveillance video from 

Target shows that the cards were redeemed by two females, who appeared to be accompanying 

each other in the store. 

(2) July 16, 2012 

On July 26, 2012, W-1 contacted the Lammond-Riggs Station and reported not having 

receiving a package that was sent to W-1 on July 14, 2012.  W-1 reported that the package 

contained $1,500 in United States currency.  Specifically, W-1, the intended recipient of the 

package, stated that the sender wrote the incorrect address on the package, which was not a valid 

mailing address.  W-1 stated that the sender realized the mistake immediately, and the sender used 

the USPS’s customer online tracking service to track the package.  According to the United States 

Postal Service online tracking printout provided by the sender, the package was marked as 

delivered on July 16, 2012 by “R. Pretlow.”  According to United States Postal Service records, 

Pretlow scanned the package at 12:21 p.m. on July 16, 2012, using the same scanner and 

identification number corresponding to Pretlow.  The package, which required a signature for 

delivery, was never signed for by W-1.  Instead, according to USPS records, the package was 

signed for by an individual using a nearly-legible signature appearing as “Arthur Williams.”  To 

date, the package was never returned and has not been found.   
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(3) August 17, 2012 

On August 17, 2012, W-2 was sitting in its residence located within the postal carrier route 

assigned to Prelow in Washington, D.C. when it observed a United States Postal Service vehicle 

parked in front of its residence.  W-2 observed a postal employee, which W-2 later described to the 

Postal Service as a black male with a beard, glasses, and a United States Postal Service uniform,  

opening multiple items of mail inside the vehicle.  According to W-2, the postal employee 

removed the contents of the mail, and then used tape to repackage the opened mail.  W-2 then 

observed the postal vehicle drive next to a trash can, where the postal employee placed the rifled 

mail and opened packages.  W-2 recorded the United States Postal Service “vehicle number” as 

“2205974,” and reported its observations to the Lammond-Riggs Station. Subsequent 

investigation confirmed that inside the trash cans described by W-2 were multiple opened 

packages and other opened items of mail.  According to Postal Service records, on August 17, 

2012, the postal vehicle 2205974 was driven by the defendant, Ronald Pretlow. 

(4) August 22, 2012 

On August 22, 2012, your affiant provided the postmaster of the Lammond-Riggs Station 

with a third “test letter,” which was placed in Pretlow’s mail to be delivered that day.  As with the 

two earlier test letters, the third test letter was addressed to a “no such number” address – an 

invalid address – so that it would be returned to the return address, which was an undercover post 

office box.  The test letter contained a birthday card and $16 dollars in United States currency, 

denominated in one ten-dollar bill and six one-dollar bills, placed in a blue envelope with a balloon 

drawn beside the address.  Your affiant observed defendant Pretlow take the test letter when he left 

for his route.  The test letter was never returned to the return address.   Also on this date, your 

affiant and Special Agent Joseph Okronley conducted surveillance of the defendant during his 
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route, which is exclusively in Washington, D.C.  The defendant was observed pulling into an alley 

located at the rear of the McDonalds at 5948 Georgia Avenue, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20011.  

The defendant was observed throwing a parcel box marked “Zappos” out of his window and into 

the top of the dumpster, which fell out.  The parcel box was recovered by Agent Okronley.  The 

box was empty (except for an invoice) and the mailing labels had been ripped off.   

(5) September 12-13, 2012 

On September 12, 2012, at approximately 6:00 a.m., your affiant provided the postmaster 

of the Lammond-Riggs Station with a fourth “test letter,” which was placed in Pretlow’s mail to be 

delivered that day.  This test letter contained an electronic-tracking beeper device.  This device was 

attached to the money, and if the money was removed from the envelope, the receiver would begin 

rapidly beeping.  The range on the receiver is approximately one city block.  In addition to the 

electronic-tracking beeper device, the test letter contained $20 in United States currency (one 

ten-dollar bill, one five-dollar bill, and five one-dollar bills).  The serial numbers for this currency 

were recorded before being placed inside the test letter.  Your affiant observed Pretlow take the 

test letter when he left the post office on his route.  Additionally, before Pretlow left the post office, 

your affiant observed Pretlow take three packages from the “return to sender” bin, a bin that 

contained packages that had been previously deemed undeliverable by other letter carriers or had 

been unclaimed by the recipient. 

Your affiant and other special agents conducted surveillance on Pretlow during his postal 

route, which is exclusively in Washington, D.C.  Throughout the entire day, the receiver continued 

to slowly “beep,” indicating that it was within range of the test letter, but that it had not been 

opened yet.  In the early afternoon, Special Agent Okronley observed Pretlow pull his vehicle to 

the side of the road, exit the vehicle from the driver’s side, walk around to the other side of his 
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vehicle, and then return to the driver’s side and drive away.  Agent Okronley went to the location 

where Pretlow had been standing and located a black trash bag.  Inside the trash bag, Agent 

Okronley observed several items of rifled mail and opened packages that were empty, which    

were seized as evidence.  Within the hour, Agent Okronley observed Pretlow park his vehicle and 

exit, walk to a dumpster, and throw a box inside the dumpster.  Pretlow then walked to several 

houses to deliver mail on his route.  Pretlow returned to the same dumpster and discarded a small 

item inside the dumpster, on the opposite side from where he had previously discarded the box.  

After Pretlow left the area, Agent Okronley inspected the dumpster and found the box (or package) 

with the labels ripped off, and on the other side of the dumpster, a crumpled address label. 

At the end of his route, Pretlow returned to the Lammond-Riggs Station to return his postal 

vehicle, outgoing mail, and his satchel.  Pretlow then entered his personal vehicle and left the post 

office for the day.  Your affiant and other agents followed Pretlow in his personal vehicle.  During 

that time, the tracking receiver continued to slowly beep, indicating that the electronic-tracking 

beeper device was still with Pretlow in his personal vehicle but had not yet been opened.  When 

Pretlow drove away, the beeping stopped on the receiver because the tracking device was beyond 

the reach of the receiver’s signal. 

The next morning, on September 13, 2012, Pretlow reported to work at the 

Lammond-Riggs Station, and was arrested for mail theft.  In a search incident to his arrest, your 

affiant recovered $342.61 in United States currency in his pockets, including the same twenty 

dollars – one five-dollar bill, one ten-dollar bill, and five one-dollar bills – that had been placed in 

the test letter, as confirmed by the previously-recorded serial numbers.   

Case 1:12-cr-00275-RC   Document 1-1   Filed 09/14/12   Page 6 of 7



 7 

CONCLUSION 

Based on the facts set forth above, I respectfully submit that there is probable cause to 

believe that Ronald C. Pretlow violated Title 18, United States Code, Section 1709 (Theft of Mail 

by Postal Employee). 

 I respectfully request that a criminal complaint be issued for this individual. 

 

 Respectfully submitted, 
 

__________________________ 
Steven Mason 
Special Agent 
Officer of Inspector General 
United States Postal Service 

  
  
 
Subscribed and sworn before me  
on ________ September, 2012. 
 
_________________________________________ 
UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE 
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